UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS









    Case No. 07-12196-DPW

__________________________________________
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)








)

v.



)








)








)

CITY OF METHUEN, ET AL


)








)


Defendants


)

__________________________________________)

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO THE MTA/MEA'S MOTION TO DISMISS

INTRODUCTION

Contrary to the claims made by the Defendant Massachusetts Teachers Association/Methuen Education Association (hereinafter "MTA") in its Motion to Dismiss, the court does have subject matter jurisdiction over the Complaint and the Complaint does state with specificity several claims upon which relief can be granted.

The MTA's insulting description of Mr. Thompson's Complaint as a "rambling diatribe" more accurately describes the MTA's Motion to Dismiss and does not in any way describe the very detailed and chronologically organized 28-page Complaint filed by Mr. Thompson.  

Mr. Thompson requests that the Court deny the MTA's Motion to Dismiss for the reasons set forth below.

CONTRARY TO THE MTA'S STATED ARGUMENT, THE DISTRICT COURT DOES HAVE SUPPLEMENTAL JURISDICTION OVER THE MTA PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 1367

1.
The MTA admits in footnote 1 (Motion to Dismiss, p. 2) that the Complaint against the Employer is a civil rights action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, but argues that the MTA's inclusion in this Complaint is not appropriate. 

2.
Section 1367(a) unambiguously states that when district courts have original jurisdiction, they "shall have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims that are so related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction [provided] they form part of the same case or controversy..."

3.
This section of the statute, which essentially codified the Supreme Court's decision in United Mine Workers of America v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715 (1966), grants supplemental jurisdiction as long as the federal and state claims derive "from a common nucleus of operative facts" such that the Plaintiff "would ordinarily be expected to try them in one judicial proceeding."

4.
Supplemental jurisdiction was codified to encourage efficiency and "economy in litigation" by eliminating the need to have separate federal and state trials on essentially the same facts.

5.
Mr. Thompson's Complaint describes in great detail how the claims against the MTA relate to the claims against his Employer.  The facts of the Complaint are indisputably intertwined, including the fact that MTA/MEA union members were the catalysts for every civil rights crime against Mr. Thompson.

6.
The MTA also aided and abetted the Employer's efforts to dismiss Mr. Thompson on grounds that it knew violated Mr. Thompson's civil rights and it failed to provide Mr. Thompson with legal services to which he was entitled as a paying union member so that he could defend himself against these civil rights violations.

7.
As stated in his Complaint, Mr. Thompson brought two grievances to the MTA, two years apart, as civil rights violations and supported his arguments with references to constitutional law and U.S. Supreme Court case law.  In both cases, his requests for legal services and arbitration costs were "voted down" without explanation.  

8.
There are only four reasons that a district court may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a claim under 28 U.S.C. § 1367, subsection (a): (1) the claim raises a novel or complex issue of State law; (2) the claim substantially predominates over the claims upon which the district court has original jurisdiction; (3) the district court has dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction; and (4) there are exceptional circumstances and compelling reasons for declining jurisdiction.  None of these conditions apply.

THE MTA'S ARGUMENT "A" FOR DISMISSAL IS BASED ON A FRAUDULENT DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT

9.
Citing Green v. Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the MTA writes "When it is difficult to discern the heart of 'complaints which ramble, which needlessly speculate, accuse and condemn, and which contain circuitous diatribes far removed from the heart of the claim,' such complaints may also be dismissed."

10.
Such a citation would be relevant if there was anything at all about Mr. Thompson's Complaint that was a rambling diatribe.  As stated earlier, the MTA's Motion to Dismiss, which contains fraudulent statements of fact and case law references that do not apply, is significantly closer to a rambling diatribe than Mr. Thompson's Complaint.  

THE MTA'S ARGUMENT "B" FOR DISMISSAL IS BASED ON THE FALSE CLAIM THAT THE MTA IS A DEFENDANT UNDER § 1983

11.
As previously argued in Paragraphs 1-8 of this document, the MTA is included in the Complaint under § 1367, not under § 1983.

12.
Therefore, the MTA's reference to itself as "a private entity, not a public institution subject to §1983 suits" is irrelevant.

13.
And although the MTA's references to Storlazzi v. Bakey and Leahy v. Board of Trustees (Motion to Dismiss, pp. 5-6) are § 1983 suits and therefore also irrelevant, Mr. Thompson does contend that his Complaint shows the "nexus between the private actors and the state actors" that these cited cases would require.

ARGUMENT "B" FOR DISMISSAL FURTHER ALLEGES FALSELY THAT THE COMPLAINT FAILS TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS FOR "DETAILED PLEADINGS"

14.
The MTA serves up a "red herring" in this argument section of its Motion to Dismiss by referencing only the general statements contained in Mr. Thompson's Counts against the MTA, while completely ignoring his detailed pleadings, to fraudulently claim that the Complaint fails to include specific allegations.

15.
Either the MTA attorney, Joseph Sandulli, has a reading comprehension problem or he is deliberately attempting to deceive the Court.

16.
The specific allegations, which the MTA claims are "difficult to discern" (Motion to Dismiss, p. 2) are communicated in great detail and clarity in the "Facts" section of Mr. Thompson's Complaint (Complaint, Paragraphs 8-98).

17.
If the MTA contends that these specific allegations are misplaced because they are not expressed in the Counts against the MTA as a defendant (Counts IV-VI), then the MTA needs to re-read those Counts more closely.  

18.
Each of the three Counts against the MTA begins with a Paragraph that realleges ALL the Paragraphs that preceded it.  For example Paragraph 128, which is the initial paragraph under Count IV, states:

Mr. Thompson hereby realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1-127 above as if fully set forth herein.
CONTRARY TO THE MTA'S ALLEGATION, THE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT CONTAINS SEVERAL CLAIMS UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED

19.
As a supplemental claim, the district court does have the jurisdiction to grant relief on the numerous claims alleged against the MTA, which include whistleblower retaliation, breach of contract, aiding and abetting the employer's efforts to dismiss the Plaintiff, slander, and intentional infliction of emotional and financial distress.

20.
Without restating them here, the detail of these claims against the MTA is communicated in Paragraphs 14, 19-22, 29-33, 35-40, 44-55, 59-63, 128-130, 137-150 of the Complaint.

THE MTA'S ARGUMENT "C" IS ERRONEOUS.  THE CLAIMS AGAINST THE MTA DO NOT REQUIRE INDEPENDENT FEDERAL COURT JURISDICTION

21.
As previously stated, the MTA has been brought into this Complaint as a Defendant under 28 U.S.C. § 1367, which provides for additional claims and additional parties.  Therefore, the MTA's reference to Wagner v. Devine, Hasenfus v. LaJeunesse, and Storlazzi v. Bakey (Motion to Dismiss, p. 7), which are not § 1367 supplemental jurisdiction cases, do not apply.

22.
The only condition for inclusion in this civil action is that the district court have original jurisdiction over the primary claim and that the supplemental claim be related to that primary claim.  

23.
It can hardly be disputed that the claims against the MTA are related to the claims against Mr. Thompson's Employer.  The MTA denied benefits to Mr. Thompson and acted in concert with the Employer (a state actor) to terminate Mr. Thompson with full knowledge that his civil rights were being violated.  

24.
The vast majority of disciplinary actions against Mr. Thompson were also instigated and initiated by his own union.  

25.
With a reference to Paragraph 29 of his Complaint, MTA/MEA local union president, Diane Dandreta, conspired with the mother of Mr. Thompson's son, Kathleen Moran, to run Mr. Thompson out of the school system with fraudulent complaints.

26.
These unsubstantiated complaints were brought to management without any prior communication with Mr. Thompson to ascertain the facts.

27.
With a reference to Paragraph 48 of his Complaint, Mr. Thompson was suspended for three days when his MTA/MEA local union president, Diane Dandreta, provided his Employer with a copy of a letter that Mr. Thompson had faxed to the MTA's regional office.  Mr. Thompson would not have been suspended otherwise.

28.
With a reference to Paragraphs 56-59 of his Complaint, Mr. Thompson was suspended for the last six weeks of the 2005-2006 school year, when a union-connected teacher, Karen McLaughlin, complained to the superintendent that Mr. Thompson had spent ten minutes of a ninety minute long block class off topic.

29.
This complaint was communicated only after McLaughlin and her union friends were unsuccessful at blackmailing Mr. Thompson into changing her daughter's physics grade.  

30.
The meeting on this grade change included MTA/MEA officer, Beth Shevlin-Willis, who was in attendance, not to represent Mr. Thompson as the teacher, but to represent McLaughlin as a parent.  

31.
When Mr. Thompson objected to the MTA's presence at this meeting and threatened to walk out, Assistant Principal Jane Obshatkin demanded that Mr. Thompson stay or be charged with insubordination.

32.
With a reference to Paragraph 62 of his Complaint, the MTA attempted to facilitate the Employer's 2006 efforts to terminate Mr. Thompson by ignoring his requests for legal services and keeping from him the fact that Mr. Thompson had just ten days to respond to the Employer's dismissal letter before the opportunity to fight his dismissal would be lost.

33.
The conspired effort between the Employer and the MTA/MEA to sabotage Mr. Thompson's teaching career in 2006 would have succeeded if not for the intervention of School Committee member, Gary Marcoux, who warned Mr. Thompson of this ten-day deadline.

STANDARD OF REVIEW IS HIGHER FOR PRO SE LITIGANTS WHEN FACED WITH A MOTION TO DISMISS

34.
Since the Plaintiff is pro se, the Court has a higher standard when faced with a motion to dismiss.  Pro se litigants' court submissions are to be construed liberally and are to be held to less stringent standards than submissions by lawyers.  The MTA concedes this same point in its motion (Motion to Dismiss, p. 3).

35.
A court faced with a motion to dismiss a pro se complaint must read the complaint's allegations expansively, Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 520-21,92 S. Ct. 594, 596, 30 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1972), and take them as true for purposes of deciding whether they state a claim. Cruz v. Beto, 405 U.S. 319, 322, 92 S. Ct. 1079, 1081, 31 L. Ed. 2D 263 (1972).

36.
The courts provide pro se parties wide latitude when construing their pleadings and papers. When interpreting pro se papers, the Court should use common sense to determine what relief the party desires. S.E.C. v. Elliott, 953 F.2d 1560, 1582 (11th Cir. 1992). See also, United States v. Miller, 197 F.3d 644, 648 (3rd Cir. 1999).

37.
Courts shall go to particular pains to protect pro se litigants against consequences of technical errors if injustice would otherwise result. U.S. v. Sanchez, 88 F.3d 1243 (D.C.Cir. 1996). 

38.
Moreover, "the court is under a duty to examine the complaint to determine if the allegations provide for relief on any possible theory.  If there is any possible theory that would entitle the Plaintiff to relief, even one that the Plaintiff has not thought of, the court cannot dismiss this case." Bonner v. Circuit Court of St. Louis, 526 F.2d 1331, 1334 (8th Cir. 1975) (quoting Bramlet v. Wilson, 495 F.2d 714, 716 (8th Cir. 1974).

MR. THOMPSON'S RESPONSE (IN ITALICS) TO SPECIFIC COMMENTS CONTAINED IN THE MTA'S MOTION TO DISMISS
39.
Assuming that the plaintiff is claiming that the MTA has violated his Constitutional rights... (Motion to Dismiss, p. 4).  The Complaint makes no such "assumptions".

40.
To establish that the MTA acted "under color of state law," the plaintiff cannot rely upon general allegations, but must plead specifically the factual nexus between the MTA and the action of the government (Motion to Dismiss, p. 5).  The Complaint does not allege that the MTA acted "under color of state law."

41.
(Citation) Plaintiff must plead in some detail, through references to material facts, the relationship or nature of the cooperation between the state actors and the private individuals (Motion to Dismiss, p. 5).  Although this requirement does not apply to § 1367 claims, the Complaint does plead in "some detail" the relationship between the state actors and the MTA.

42.
If the court finds that there is no properly alleged federal claim against the MTA, then any state law claims should also be dismissed because there is no longer federal question jurisdiction (Motion to Dismiss, p. 7).  That would be the case if the claim against the MTA were a § 1983 claim.  The federal law claim is against the Employer.  Again, the MTA is included in the Complaint under supplemental jurisdiction, which does not require a federal law claim against the MTA.

43.
Those very same complaints [ie. allegations that the MTA defamed, slandered, and harassed Mr. Thompson] were already litigated against the local union president in the Massachusetts Superior Court and dismissed with prejudice (Motion to Dismiss, p. 8).  This statement is fraud.  The claims of defamation of character, slander, and harassment were brought against Dandreta as an individual, not in her capacity as an MTA officer.  The MTA was added to the lawsuit shortly before it was dismissed, not for defamation of character, slander, and workplace harassment, but for providing Dandreta and not Mr. Thompson, with legal services.  

It can also be verified with the MTA's own attachment to its Motion to Dismiss that the MTA is not even mentioned in the Superior Court's Memorandum of Order.  Although not relevant to this Complaint, the Massachusetts Superior Court case was dismissed without an evidentiary hearing based on the presiding judge's claim that Dandreta's baseless and damaging lies about Mr. Thompson constituted opinion.

44.
Although a Massachusetts teacher has an individual statutory right to arbitrate his termination under M.G.L. c. 71, § 42 (a right not dependent upon the union processing his grievance) a union's breach of any duty of fair representation is cognizable under Massachusetts law (Motion to Dismiss, p. 9).  The MTA admits that the union's breach of duty is cognizable under Massachusetts law, but provides no justifiable reason for why Mr. Thompson's breach of duty claim should be dismissed with the exception of a reference to some breach of duty cases that have been dismissed.  

If it is the MTA's position that the breach of duty claim should be dismissed because it can be litigated under state law, then such a position would be wrong since claims under § 1367 give the federal court jurisdiction over state law claims.
CONCLUSION


For the foregoing reasons, the Plaintiff, Kevin M. Thompson, respectfully requests that the MTA's motion to dismiss be denied and a jury trial be scheduled at the court's earliest convenience.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT


The Plaintiff also requests a hearing on the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(d).







Respectfully Submitted,







____________________________







Kevin M. Thompson, Plaintiff (Pro Se)







20 Washington Street #1







Methuen, MA 01844







(978) 691-1191

Dated:
January 21, 2008

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE


I, Kevin M. Thompson, Plaintiff, hereby certify that a true copy of this document was served upon the attorney of record for each party (Joseph G. Sandulli and David C. Jenkins) by e-filing on January 21, 2008.
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Kevin M. Thompson, Plaintiff
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OPPOSITION TO MTA/MEA'S MOTION TO DISMISS


Now comes the Plaintiff Kevin Thompson to oppose the Defendant Massachusetts Teachers Association/Methuen Education Association's ("MTA's") Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that the motion is wholly without merit.  Contrary to the claims made by the MTA in its Motion to Dismiss, the court does have subject matter jurisdiction over the Complaint and the Complaint does state with specificity several claims upon which relief can be granted.  

The Motion to Dismiss repeatedly references the Complaint against this particular defendant as a § 1983 action and then supports its arguments based entirely on this fraudulent material fact.  Although the action against the other defendants (City of Methuen/Methuen Public Schools, Dr. Jeanne C. Whitten, and Dr. Charles P. Littlefield) have been brought to federal court under a § 1983 action, the inclusion of the MTA in this lawsuit is brought under § 1367, supplemental jurisdiction.

Moreover, the MTA's Motion to Dismiss falsely alleges that the Complaint does not include "the detail necessary to survive a motion to dismiss" by "overlooking" the specific allegations in the "FACTS" section of the Complaint, which Mr. Thompson "realleges" under every Count.

Lastly, the MTA's insulting description of the Complaint as a "rambling diatribe" more accurately describes the MTA's Motion to Dismiss and does not in any way describe the very detailed and chronologically organized 28-page Complaint filed by Mr. Thompson.  


Mr. Thompson requests that the Court deny the MTA's Motion to Dismiss for the reasons set forth in the accompanying memorandum.
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MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO THE MTA/MEA'S MOTION TO DISMISS

Contrary to the claims made by the "MTA" in its Motion to Dismiss, the court does have subject matter jurisdiction over the Complaint and the Complaint does state with specificity several claims upon which relief can be granted.

The MTA's insulting description of my Complaint as a "rambling diatribe" more accurately describes the MTA's Motion to Dismiss and does not in any way describe my very detailed Complaint.

Contrary to the MTA's argument, the district court does have supplemental jurisdiction over the MTA pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

The MTA admits in footnote 1 (Motion to Dismiss, p. 2) that the Complaint against the Employer is a civil rights action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, but argues that its inclusion in this Complaint is not appropriate. 

Section 1367(a) unambiguously states that when district courts have original jurisdiction, they "shall have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims that are so related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction [provided] they form part of the same case or controversy..."

My Complaint describes in great detail how the claims against the MTA relate to the claims against the Employer.  

The facts of the Complaint are indisputably intertwined, including the fact that MTA/MEA union members were the catalysts for every civil rights crime against me.

The MTA aided and abetted the Employer's efforts to dismiss me on grounds that it knew violated my civil rights and it failed to provide me with legal services to which I was entitled as a paying union member so that I could defend myself against these civil rights violations.

As stated in my Complaint, I brought two grievances to the MTA, two years apart, as civil rights violations and supported my arguments with references to constitutional law and U.S. Supreme Court case law.  In both cases, my requests for legal services and arbitration costs were "voted down" without explanation.  

The bottom line is that my two requests would have been unanimously approved if they had been brought to my union's executive board by any other member.

I was retaliated against for two specific reasons.  I sued the union president for her crimes against me and exposed the corruption in our union's election process.  

The MTA actually facilitated the Employer's "2006" efforts to terminate me by ignoring my requests for legal services and keeping from me the fact that I had just ten days to respond to the Employer's dismissal letter before the opportunity to fight my dismissal would be lost.

The conspired effort between the Employer and the MTA/MEA to sabotage my teaching career in 2006 would have succeeded if not for the intervention of a School Committee member, Gary Marcoux, who warned me of this ten-day deadline.

Lastly, I would like to remind the court that there is a higher standard of review when faced with a motion to dismiss.

The court is under a duty to examine the complaint to determine if the allegations provide for relief on any possible theory.  

And if there is any possible theory that would entitle me to relief, even one that I have not thought of, the court cannot dismiss the case." See Bonner v. Circuit Court of St. Louis, 526 F.2d 1331, 1334 (8th Cir. 1975) (quoting Bramlet v. Wilson, 495 F.2d 714, 716 (8th Cir. 1974).

Argument B of the MTA's motion to dismiss alleges that my complaint fails to meet the requirements for detailed pleadings.

Either the MTA attorney, Joseph Sandulli, has a reading comprehension problem or he is deliberately attempting to deceive the Court.

The specific allegations, which the MTA claims are "difficult to discern" (Motion to Dismiss, p. 2) are communicated in great detail and clarity in the "Facts" section of my Complaint (Complaint, Paragraphs 8-98).

If the MTA contends that these specific allegations are misplaced because they are not expressed in the Counts against the MTA as a defendant (Counts IV-VI), then the MTA needs to re-read those Counts more closely.  

Each of the three Counts against the MTA begins with a Paragraph that realleges ALL the Paragraphs that preceded it.  For example Paragraph 128, which is the initial paragraph under Count IV, states:

Mr. Thompson hereby realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1-127 above as if fully set forth herein.
As a supplemental claim, the district court does have the jurisdiction to grant relief on the numerous claims alleged against the MTA, which include whistleblower retaliation, breach of contract, aiding and abetting the employer's efforts to dismiss me, slander, and intentional infliction of emotional and financial distress.

The MTA repeatedly calls itself a § 1983 Defendant to argue

its points because if they were included in my complaint under this section they would have an argument.

The fact is that the MTA has been brought into this Complaint as a Defendant under 28 U.S.C. § 1367, which provides for additional claims and additional parties.  

The only condition for inclusion in this civil action is that the district court have original jurisdiction over the primary claim and that the supplemental claim be related to that primary claim.  

It can hardly be disputed that the claims against the MTA are related to the claims against the Employer.  The MTA denied benefits to me and acted in concert with the Employer to run me out of the school system with full knowledge that my civil rights were being violated.  

The vast majority of disciplinary actions against me were also instigated and initiated by my own union.  

My union retaliated against me for two specific reasons.  

claim against the MTA.

43.
Those very same complaints [ie. allegations that the MTA defamed, slandered, and harassed Mr. Thompson] were already litigated against the local union president in the Massachusetts Superior Court and dismissed with prejudice (Motion to Dismiss, p. 8).  This statement is fraud.  The claims of defamation of character, slander, and harassment were brought against Dandreta as an individual, not in her capacity as an MTA officer.  The MTA was added to the lawsuit shortly before it was dismissed, not for defamation of character, slander, and workplace harassment, but for providing Dandreta and not Mr. Thompson, with legal services.  

It can also be verified with the MTA's own attachment to its Motion to Dismiss that the MTA is not even mentioned in the Superior Court's Memorandum of Order.  Although not relevant to this Complaint, the Massachusetts Superior Court case was dismissed without an evidentiary hearing based on the presiding judge's claim that Dandreta's baseless and damaging lies about Mr. Thompson constituted opinion.

44.
Although a Massachusetts teacher has an individual statutory right to arbitrate his termination under M.G.L. c. 71, § 42 (a right not dependent upon the union processing his grievance) a union's breach of any duty of fair representation is cognizable under Massachusetts law (Motion to Dismiss, p. 9).  The MTA admits that the union's breach of duty is cognizable under Massachusetts law, but provides no justifiable reason for why Mr. Thompson's breach of duty claim should be dismissed with the exception of a reference to some breach of duty cases that have been dismissed.  

If it is the MTA's position that the breach of duty claim should be dismissed because it can be litigated under state law, then such a position would be wrong since claims under § 1367 give the federal court jurisdiction over state law claims.
CONCLUSION


For the foregoing reasons, the Plaintiff, Kevin M. Thompson, respectfully requests that the MTA's motion to dismiss be denied and a jury trial be scheduled at the court's earliest convenience.
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